ABSTRACT

Association of Dietary Fiber Intake with Metabolic Risk Factors for Type 2 Diabetes in

African American Men

Madison A. Young, M.S.

Mentor: April J. Stull, Ph.D

An insufficient amount of research has focused on the relationship between dietary intake and type 2 diabetes among African Americans (AA) which are disproportionately affected by the disease. This study examined the association of dietary fiber intake on metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes in AA men with a family history of type 2 diabetes. Measurements of anthropometry, blood pressure, DXA, and blood lipid profiles from the ARTIIS study (parent study) were used in the current study. Also, food frequency questionnaire and lifestyle history questionnaire were used. Outcomes indicated that dietary fiber intake is far below recommendations in AA men. Subjects that consumed higher dietary fiber had lower LDL-C (P≤0.05) and they self-reported currently exercising ($P \le 0.05$). The relationship between dietary fiber and metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes was not evident. Our findings indicate the imperative need to further examine dietary patterns within AA and their influence on metabolic outcomes.

Association of Dietary Fiber Intake with Metabolic Risk Factors for Type 2 Diabetes in African American Men

by

Madison A. Young, A.S., B.S.

A Thesis

Approved by the Department of Human Science and Design

Sheri Dragoo, Ph.D., Chairperson

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Baylor University in Partial Fulfillment of the
Requirements for the Degree
of
Master of Science

Approved by the Thesis Committee

April J. Stull, Ph.D., Chairperson

LesLee Funderburk, Ph.D.

Stephanie Boddie, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Graduate School

December 2022

J. Larry Lyon, Ph.D., Dean

Copyright © 2022 by Madison A. Young

All rights reserved

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	v
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
CHAPTER ONE	1
Introduction	1
Background	
Objectives	6
CHAPTER TWO	7
Materials and Methods	
Study Inclusion	
Design and Methods	
Statistical Analysis	
CHAPTER THREE	
Results	
Participants	
Dietary Intake Characteristics	
Lifestyle History and Dietary Fiber Intake	
Dietary Fiber and Metabolic Risk Factors	
CHAPTER FOUR	17
Discussion	
CHAPTER FIVE	22
Conclusion	
RIBI IOGRAPHY	23

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Characteristics of participants by dietary fiber intake categories	11
Table 2. Dietary intake of participants	13
Table 3. Lifestyle history and dietary fiber intake	15
Table 4. Correlation between dietary fiber and metabolic risk factors	16

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thank you to April Stull, Ph.D., RDN, FAND, who has guided me through the process of scientific research and provided me with clarity and support throughout this project. Your support in exploring my interests in underserved populations and helping me pivot when outcomes were not expected was essential in developing this study. Your patience and guidance gave me the confidence to move forward with my thesis and meet my goals. Thank you to Robert L. Newton, Jr., Ph.D., principal investigator of the Aerobic Plus Resistance Training and Insulin Resistance in African American Men (ARTIIS) study, and supporting researchers, for providing the opportunity to employ research in an underserved and important population. Thank you to Anu Kannan, statistical analyst, for assisting with the interpretation of the data. An additional thank you and appreciation to committee members, LesLee Funderburk, Ph.D., RD, CSSD, CSCS and Stephanie Boddie, Ph.D.

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

Background

The prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus has been steadily increasing in the United States.^{1,2} In 2019, more than 37 million Americans were estimated to have diabetes. 1 By 2030, it is projected that the rate will increase to 54.9 million. 2 African Americans are at a disproportionate risk for developing type 2 diabetes. African Americans are twice as likely to be diagnosed with type 2 diabetes compared to Whites, and twice as likely to die from diabetes compared to Whites.^{3–5} Among US African Americans, type 2 diabetes is the fourth leading cause of death in women, and the sixth in men.⁶ In 2018, 13.0% of African Americans ages 18 and older had type 2 diabetes, while only 8.0% of Whites had type 2 diabetes. 5 Specifically, African American men are more greatly affected by type 2 diabetes than African American women. According to the 2018 National Health Interview Survey, 13.4% of African American men had diabetes while 12.7% of African American women had diabetes.⁵ It is unclear why African Americans are disproportionately affected. Although there is genetic influence, including a family history of diabetes and increased susceptibility for particular ethnicities, the development of type 2 diabetes is primarily associated with different risk factors.⁷

There is a combination of risk factors that increase an individual's risk for developing type 2 diabetes. These risks include metabolic risk factors, behavioral factors, and lifestyle habits. Defined metabolic risk factors include elevated fasting blood

glucose, elevated blood pressure, elevated triglycerides, elevated waist circumference, and low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C).⁸ If a person has three of the five risk factors, they are diagnosed with metabolic syndrome which increases their risk of developing type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. In addition, associated behavioral factors and lifestyle habits include dietary intake, physical activity, educational level, income level, and history of smoking and alcohol intake.⁸ Many of these behavioral factors and lifestyle habits are modifiable, particularly dietary intake of specific foods that are high in fiber.

Studies have shown that higher consumption of dietary fiber decreases the risk of diabetes in the general population.^{9,10} A large multiethnic cohort study of over 75,000 individuals followed for 14 years found that dietary fiber intake of >30g per day was associated with a reduced risk of diabetes. 11 Similar results were observed in a 10-year study where researchers found that a higher intake of fiber and whole grains was associated with a reduced risk of type 2 diabetes. ¹⁰ Furthermore, the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study found that amongst Whites, the incidence of diabetes decreased with an increase in total dietary fiber intake; however, this was not observed in African American individuals. 12 Type 2 diabetes imposes an enormous health burden and is associated with several other health risks and chronic diseases; therefore, prevention is critical. A reduction in metabolic risk factors associated with type 2 diabetes has the potential to result in a reduced risk of the disease. Fiber has been recognized to positively impact metabolic risk factors including blood glucose, insulin concentrations, body weight, blood pressure, HDL-C, and triglycerides in individuals with and without diabetes.^{7,12}

Dietary Fiber and Obesity

Intake of fiber has been shown to be associated with weight reduction in obese and overweight individuals.⁷ The effect of fiber on weight has been suggested to be related to reduced rate of nutrient absorption, increased satiation, appetite suppression, and reduced caloric intake.⁷ A meta-analysis summarizing the relation of dietary fiber intake and the risk of metabolic syndrome reported that multiple studies found that intake of dietary fiber in overweight and obese individuals was associated with weight loss and prevented weight regain.⁷ Furthermore, a higher body mass index (BMI) was associated with an increased risk for diabetes.¹³ A retrospective cohort study examined the associations of BMI and fat distribution with diabetes risk and found that all participants who developed diabetes had a higher baseline BMI than those who did not.¹³ Previous studies have shown that dietary intake influences weight outcomes and dietary fiber may have a supportive role in weight management.^{7,13}

Dietary Fiber and Glucose

Physiologically, fiber has been shown to decrease postprandial insulin and glucose concentrations by slowing glucose absorption, thus reducing insulin secretion and sharp spikes in blood glucose.^{3,9,10,12} A review of five studies that evaluated the impact of dietary fiber consumption on insulin resistance found relevant effects of fiber on reduced postprandial glucose excursions.⁹ A cross-over study evaluated the effects of high fiber (25g fiber/1000 kcal) and low fiber (3g fiber/1000 kcal) meals on postprandial serum glucose and insulin in hypercholesteremic, overweight men.¹⁴ Participants were fed a high fiber or low fiber meal for two days followed by a 4-day washout period.¹⁴ After 1-hour post meal consumption, both serum glucose and insulin values were

significantly lower with high fiber meals than with low fiber meals.¹⁴ High fiber foods have a lower glycemic index, which results in reduced insulin activity, suggesting that a high fiber diet may have a role in controlling glycemic response, an outcome strongly related to type 2 diabetes.

Dietary Fiber and Lipids

Fiber can improve HDL-C concentrations and improve triglycerides by reducing fat absorption during digestion and binding to bile acids converting cholesterol to bile.^{7,15} A cross-sectional study of 117 overweight and obese men and women found an inverse relationship between total dietary fiber and triglycerides after adjusting for age, sex, and visceral adiposity. 16 A meta-analysis evaluating the effects of dietary fiber on dyslipidemia reported that multiple observational studies observed a significant role of soluble fibers reducing serum cholesterol. Dyslipidemia is commonly associated with many metabolic markers related to diabetes. A cross-sectional study evaluating the presence of metabolic syndrome in type 2 diabetic patients found that 33% of 150 patients had elevated triglyceride levels and 41% had lowered HDL-C. 17 In a study with 627 male and female African American participants, there was a significant correlation between moderate dietary fiber intake and improved HDL-C levels after adjusting for age, gender, and energy intake. 15 Dyslipidemia is commonly observed in diabetic patients. The current body of literature illustrates the role of dietary fiber in improving blood lipid profiles, thus reducing metabolic risk factors associated with the disease.

Dietary Fiber and Blood Pressure

Furthermore, intake of dietary fiber has been shown to improve blood pressure; however, the mechanisms of action are unclear. The INTERMAP study, a cross sectional analysis evaluating dietary fiber intake and blood pressure, included 4680 men and women between 40 and 59 years. In the study, the higher intake of total dietary fiber was associated with lower systolic blood pressure independent of BMI and urinary potassium excretion. A meta-analysis that evaluated three epidemiological studies found an inverse association between dietary fiber intake and blood pressure. Elevated blood pressure is a common metabolic risk factor seen in patients with type 2 diabetes. A cross-sectional study found that 60% of 150 participants with type 2 diabetes had elevated systolic blood pressure. Therefore, prevention of high blood pressure is an important preventative factor.

African Americans and Dietary Fiber

In African Americans, dietary fiber intake is usually below the recommendations for American adults, 14g per 1000 kcal which is about 25g per day for adult females and 38g per day for adult males. 19–21 Researchers found that, on average, African American adults have 21% lower dietary fiber intake compared to Whites (13.7g vs 17.3g, respectively) and 26% compared to Hispanics (13.7g vs 18.4g, respectively). 19,22 African Americans are usually an understudied population in dietary intake studies, particularly African American men. Not including or having a limited number of different ethnic groups and genders in research studies reduces the generalizability of the study results. African American males are important in their community, having significant roles as husbands and fathers, and providers for their families. 23 To better understand the

correlation between dietary fiber and metabolic outcomes in African American males, we conducted a sub-analysis using data from the Aerobic Plus Resistance Training and Insulin Resistance in African American Men (ARTIIS) study conducted by Newton et al.²⁴

Objectives

Our primary objective was to determine the association of dietary fiber intake with metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes in African American Men. Our secondary aim was to determine the association between metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes and food groups that contribute carbohydrates and fiber to the diet.

Hypothesis

We hypothesized lower dietary fiber intake would be associated with an increase in metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes. Secondarily, we hypothesized that metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes would be associated with food groups that contribute carbohydrates and fiber to the diet

CHAPTER TWO

Materials and Methods

Study Inclusion

Data was obtained from subjects that participated in the ARTIIS study at Pennington Biomedical Research Center. Participants were recruited from the Baton Rouge, LA area using a community-based approach. They were included in the study if they self-identified as an African American man that was insufficiently active (exercise \leq 3 days a week for 20 minutes) and between the ages of 35 and 70 years with a BMI between 25.0 kg/m² and 45.0 kg/m² and family history of diabetes (nuclear family member).

Design and Methods

The research design and methods have been thoroughly described elsewhere.²⁴ The current study used a variety of baseline study measurements from the parent study. The measurements that were relevant to the current study included demographic information which included their lifestyle history (alcohol history, smoking history, exercise history, leisure television habits, and education and income levels), anthropometry (height, weight, and waist circumference), blood pressure, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) which measured body composition, and blood draws which were used to test lipid, glucose, and insulin levels .²⁴ Cardiorespiratory endurance, calculated by measuring VO₂ max, was used to validate self-reported physical activity. In addition, questionnaires evaluating dietary intake were administered. The study protocol

was approved by the Pennington Biomedical Institutional Review Board and written informed consent was provided to the participants.

Dietary Intake Questionnaire

Dietary intake was assessed using a Block Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ).²⁵ The Block FFQ was used to estimate daily caloric intake of select nutrients and food group servings.²⁵ The Block FFQ assessed food habits, supplemental intake, sources of food groups, serving size, and frequency of consumption.²⁵ To measure food group consumption, commonly consumed foods were grouped by category and frequency and serving size is evaluated. The food groups included vegetables; fruit and fruit juices; breads, cereal, rice, and pasta; milk, yogurt, and cheese; meat, poultry, fish, and beans; fats, oils, sweets, and snacks. Additional questions about alcohol intake history were reported. The FFQ-measured dietary fiber intake was normalized by adjusting participants overall caloric intake using 14g of dietary fiber per 1000 kcal, the current recommendation for adults.^{20,26} The adjusted fiber intake total was then used to separate the participants into two groups based on median fiber intake which was 6.75g per 1000 kcal. Participants were categorized as consuming less than median 6.75g fiber per 1000 kcal.

Statistical Analysis

Baseline characteristic data were separated into two groups by median dietary fiber intake and expressed as means and standard deviation (Mean \pm SD) for continuous data. A Welch two-sample t-test was conducted on the two dietary fiber groups to assess significant differences. A Welch two-sample t-test or an ANOVA was run to assess the

differences between groups of categorical lifestyle variables. The correlations between dietary fiber intake and metabolic risk factors were calculated using Pearson's correlation coefficient. The regression coefficients and 95% confidence intervals were calculated using a multiple linear regression analysis after multivariate adjustment for potential confounding factors, such as age, % body fat, energy intake, fat intake, and VO_2 Max. Model assumptions were checked, and normality was a concern. The data appeared skewed, so a square root transformation and log transformation were applied, but this did not change the results of the analysis. IBM SPSS Statistics 27 and R 4.1.1 (2017, R Core Team, Vienna, Austria) was used in data preparation and analysis. Values of $P \le 0.05$ were considered statistically significant in all of the analysis.

CHAPTER THREE

Results

Participants

Characteristics of participants are presented in Table 1. Participants were middle age and obese. Twenty-seven percent of the population had metabolic syndrome with majority of subjects having an elevated waist circumference and 50% of subjects having hypertension (systolic blood pressure: \geq 130 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure: \geq 85 mmHg). Participants had near optimal low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and participants who consumed less than the median fiber intake had statistically significant higher LDL-C than those who consumed greater than or equal to the median fiber intake (P<0.05).

Table 1 Characteristics of Participants by Dietary Fiber Intake Categories

Variable	All n=103	<6.75g/1000kca 1 n=51	≥6.75g/1000kca 1 n=52
Age, y	51.8 ± 9.0	50.8 ± 9.1	52.8 ± 8.9
BMI, kg/m ²	31.6 ± 5.3	31.6 ± 5.1	31.6 ± 5.4
Weight, kg	99.4 ± 18.2	98.4 ± 17.9	100.3 ± 18.7
Waist Circumference, cm	105.8 ± 14.0	106.0 ± 13.9	105.5 ± 14.2
Body fat, %	32.0 ± 6.4	32.5 ± 6.5	31.5 ± 6.3
Fat body mass, kg	32.8 ± 11.6	33.0 ± 12.1	32.6 ± 11.3
Lean body mass, kg	63.7 ± 8.7	62.5 ± 8.2	64.9 ± 9.2
Glucose, mg/dL	94.3 ± 8.8	94.6 ± 7.7	94.1 ± 9.8
Insulin, uU/mL	12.3 ± 7.2	12.8 ± 7.4	11.8 ± 7.0
Triglycerides, mg/dL	91.5 ± 45.2	91.5 ± 45.2	88.5 ± 46.5
Cholesterol, mg/dL	172.5 ± 37.2	179.0 ± 36.0	166.1 ± 38.1
LDL-C, mg/dL	107.3 ± 30.2	113.3 ± 31.1 *	101.5 ± 28.4
HDL-C, mg/dL	47.2 ± 11.5	47.4 ± 9.0	46.9 ± 13.5
Systolic Blood Pressure, mmHg	123.6 ± 11.7	122.2 ± 11.2	125.1 ± 12.1
Diastolic Blood Pressure, mmHg	81.7 ± 8.0	81.2 ± 7.7	82.2 ± 8.3
Peak relative VO2 (VO2 Max) mL/kg/min	24.5 ± 5.5	24.7 ± 5.9	24.3 ± 5.0
Metabolic Syndrome, %	27	29	25
Risk Factors			
Waist Circumference \geq 40 in, %	62.1	63.0	60.0
Triglycerides \geq 150 mg/dL, %	9.7	12.0	8.0
HDL-C < 40 mg/dL, %	28.2	24.0	35.0
Systolic Blood Pressure ≥ 130 mmHg, %	34.0	29.0	37.0
Diastolic Blood Pressure ≥ 85 mmHg, %	36.9	31.0	40.0
Systolic Blood Pressure, mmHg or Diastolic Blood Pressure, mmHg	50.5	43.1	57.7
Glucose ≥ 100 mg/dL, %	24.3	29.0	21.0

Data are expressed as mean \pm SD; *Indicates statistically significant difference between <0.65g fiber and \geq 0.65g fiber (P<0.05); HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

Dietary Intake Characteristics

The participants' dietary intake is presented in Table 2. Participants were categorized based on median fiber intake (g per kcal). On average, participants total energy intake was approximately 1500 kcal per day, with 42% calories from carbohydrates, 39% from fat, and 17% from protein. Participants who consumed less than median 6.75g fiber consumed more calories, fat, and protein per day compared to participants who consumed greater than or equal to median 6.75g fiber (P≤0.5). The carbohydrate intake did not change between the different fiber categories. The average intake of fiber was 7.4g per 1000 kcal. Participants who consumed greater than or equal to the median fiber intake on average consumed 9.7g per 1000 kcal, while participants under the median fiber intake consumed 5.1g per 1000 kcal (P=.004). Additionally, participants who consumed greater than median 6.75g fiber on average consumed significantly more vegetables and fruits and less meats and fats/sweets when compared to participants who consumed less than median 6.75g fiber (P≤0.05). There were no changes in the bread/pasta, milk/cheese, and alcohol beverage groups.

Table 2 Dietary Intake of Participants

Variable	Total n=103	<6.75 g/1000 kcal n=51	≥ 6.75 g/1000kcal n=52	P-value
Dietary Intake				
Energy, kcal/day	1522.2 ± 917.8	1742.4 ± 1000.6	1306.2 ± 779.2	0.015
Fat, g/day	66.9 ± 41.3	80.0 ± 45.4	54.0 ± 32.4	0.001
Protein, g/day	64.5 ± 38.7	$73.1 \pm \ 43.3$	56.2 ± 31.8	0.026
Carbohydrates, g/day	161.0 ± 103.8	176.3 ± 112.1	146.1 ± 93.7	0.141
Total dietary fiber, g/day	10.3 ± 6.1	8.6 ± 4.8	12.0 ± 6.8	0.004
Adjusted dietary fiber, g/1000kcal	7.4 ± 3.4	5.1 ± 1.1	9.7 ± 3.3	0.001
Food Groups				
Vegetable, servings/day	1.6 ± 0.9	1.4 ± 0.8	1.7 ± 0.9	0.040
Fruit and Fruit Juice, servings/day	1.0 ± 0.8	0.6 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.9	0.001
Bread, Cereal, Rice, and Pasta, servings/day	1.9 ± 1.0	2.0 ± 1.1	1.7 ± 0.9	0.120
Milk, Yogurt, and Cheese, servings/day	1.0 ± 1.1	1.2 ± 1.1	0.9 ± 1.2	0.140
Meat, Poultry, Fish, and Beans, servings/day	2.3 ± 1.3	2.7 ± 1.5	1.9 ± 0.9	0.002
Fats, Oils, Sweets, Snacks, servings/day	2.6 ± 2.2	3.4 ± 2.4	1.8 ± 1.5	0.001
Alcohol Beverages, servings/day	0.2 ± 0.3	0.3 ± 0.4	0.2 ± 0.3	0.233

Data are expressed as mean \pm SD

Lifestyle History and Dietary Fiber Intake

The lifestyle history and dietary fiber intake of the participants are presented in Table 3. The majority of participants do not currently smoke and 50% consume alcohol. Almost 70% of participants self-reported being sedentary and those individuals that self-reported they currently exercised consumed 23% more fiber than individuals that were sedentary (P≤0.05). Socioeconomic factors did not significantly affect dietary fiber consumption between categories with 45% of participants having at least a college degree and almost 70% earning at least \$50,000 annually. Regardless of education status or income level, dietary fiber intake remained relatively comparable between groups. Additionally, participants who never or seldomly watched TV in their leisure time consumed on average 20% more dietary fiber compared to those who sometimes, often, or always watched TV. However, this observation was not statistically significant.

Table 3 Lifestyle History and Dietary Fiber

Variable	% Participants	Fiber g/1000 kcal	P-value
Smoke History			0.430
No	87.4	7.5	
Yes	12.6	6.7	
Alcohol History			0.098
No	49.5	8.0	
Yes	50.5	6.9	
Exercise History			0.004
No	68.9	6.8	
Yes	31.1	8.8	
Leisure TV			0.174
Never/Seldom	12.6	9.0	
Sometimes	41.7	7.3	
Often/Always	45.6	7.1	
Education			0.928
Some HS, Diploma/GED	19.6	7.2	
Some College	35.3	7.3	
College Degree	25.5	7.5	
Post Graduate Degree	19.6	7.8	
Income			0.847
\$0 to \$29,999	15.7	6.7	
\$30,000 to \$49,000	15.7	7.1	
\$50,000 to \$79,000	28.4	7.5	
\$80,000 to \$99,000	13.7	7.8	
\$100,000 and above	26.5	7.8	

n=103 for all variables except for education and income (n=102)

Dietary Fiber and Metabolic Risk Factors

The correlation between dietary fiber intake and metabolic risk factors are presented in Table 4. The correlation between participants adjusted dietary fiber intake and the five evaluated metabolic risk factors were insignificant. After adjusting for potential confounding factors, such as age, % body fat, energy intake, fat intake and VO₂ max, the insignificant correlation remained (data not shown; objective #1). In addition, there were no relationships between carbohydrate and fiber-rich food groups (vegetables, fruits, and bread/pasta) and metabolic risk factors (data not shown; objective #2).

Table 4 Correlation Between Dietary Fiber and Metabolic Risk Factors

Metabolic Risk Factors	Correlation	P-value
Waist Circumference	-0.03	0.73
Triglycerides	-0.09	0.36
HDL-C	0.12	0.22
Systolic Blood Pressure	0.07	0.46
Diastolic Blood Pressure	0.01	0.94
Glucose	-0.02	0.84

Data were expressed using Pearson correlation; n=103: HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol

CHAPTER FOUR

Discussion

This study examined the relationship between dietary fiber intake and the prevalence of metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes in African American men. Our results did not suggest a correlation between dietary fiber intake and metabolic risk factors and food groups contributing carbohydrates and fiber to the diet. However, we found that the men in the current study consumed an average dietary fiber intake of 7.4g per 1000 kcal (adjusted) or 10.3g per day which is below the 14g per 1000 kcal, or 38g (men) per day which is the recommendation for adults. The LDL-C levels of participants in the current study were higher in the lower median fiber category compared to higher median fiber category. Additionally, we found that dietary fiber intake was 23% higher amongst participants who self-reported that they currently exercised versus participants who did not exercise.

Average dietary fiber intake of African Americans reported in other studies are inconsistent. Amongst African American adult males, Storey et al. reported an average fiber intake of 15.0g per day, while Sekgala et al. reported intake of 4.6g per day. ^{15,19} According to *What We Eat in America* NHANES 2017-2022, the average dietary fiber intake was 16g per day, approximately half of the recommended intake and even lower in African Americans, 13.5g per day. ^{20,22} This is a 24% higher dietary fiber intake than participants within the current study which consumed 10.3g per day.

Our findings are consistent with other studies that indicate African Americans have insufficient intakes of dietary fiber and consume higher calories and fat. ^{19,22,27} The subjects in the current study that were in the lower median fiber category had a higher consumption of calories, fats, sugars, oils, and snacks compared to subjects in the higher median fiber category. Similar findings were reported by Ma et al. in type 2 diabetic patients. ²⁸ Ma et al. reported participants dietary patterns consisted of high-fat (45% of total calories from fat) and low dietary fiber intake (11g per day). ²⁸ Bazzano et al. also found that participants who consumed less dietary fiber consumed higher amounts of saturated fat and total calories compared to their counterparts consuming more total dietary fiber. ²⁹ These findings were consistent with Lepping et al. that studied African American women and their dietary fiber intake. The women that did not meet their daily fiber recommendations had higher total energy intake compared to those meeting daily fiber intake recommendations. ³⁰

The Dietary Guidelines for Americans (2020-2025) recommends adults following a 2,200 calorie diet consume three servings of vegetables and two servings of fruits daily. In general, US adults do not meet dietary recommendations. A study reporting dietary quality of Americans by assessing healthy eating index (HEI) scores found that all African American adults ages 19 to 64 years, were meeting only half of the recommended total fruit and total vegetable intakes. Similar to the previous study, participants in the current study also consumed less than half of the recommended fruit and vegetable servings.

The current findings highlighted that participants who self-reported they currently exercised had a significantly higher dietary fiber intake when compared to those

individuals that do not exercise. This association has not been well researched, however a retrospective study using data from the Nurses' Health Study of 62,036 women found that individuals who reported daily physical activity were in the highest quintile of dietary fiber intake (20g daily) compared to individuals whose physical activity was reported as less than once weekly (7g daily).³¹ In contrast, Bazzano et al. did not find a significant difference in total dietary fiber intake in 6,531 men and women with different levels of physical activity.²⁹

Previous research supports the interaction between dietary fiber intake and LDL-C.^{32–36} A randomized, double-blind, controlled study of 155 subjects with elevated LDL-C found that intake of 6-10g of fiber per day was associated with a significant decrease in LDL-C.³⁶ At baseline, participants had moderately elevated LDL-C between 130 and 190 g/L, whereas participants in the current study had near optimal average LDL-C levels.³⁶ Thus, the effect of dietary fiber on LDL-C may be effective regardless of the status of the baseline LDL-C levels (near optimal or high). In a randomized, cross-over study with a 4-day wash out period conducted by Anderson et al., ten non-obese hypercholesterolemic men were randomized to a high fiber or low fiber meal.¹⁴ The serum LDL-C values decreased significantly on all days, but did not differ significantly between participants consuming high fiber and low fiber meals.¹⁴

In the current study, dietary fiber intake and metabolic risk factors were not correlated which does not support the current body of literature. In a dietary fiber study of 117 predominantly White overweight and obese individuals, but otherwise healthy, 7-day food records were recorded and relationships between dietary fiber and individual metabolic syndrome risk factors were assessed.¹⁶ Similar to the current study, Hannon et

al. evaluated subjects with normal blood triglyceride levels. However, in contrast to the current study, there was a significant correlation between total and soluble dietary fiber intake and blood triglyceride concentrations. ¹⁶ In an African American population of 627 participants, Sekgala et al. reported a significant association between total dietary fiber intake and fasting blood glucose and systolic blood pressure.¹⁵ A study of 213 African American women with a mean age of 58 years and an average total dietary fiber intake of 10.3g, found a higher prevalence of metabolic syndrome in participants not meeting daily fiber recommendations compared to those meeting daily fiber recommendations.³⁰ The discrepancies between the significant findings in previous studies and the current study may be due to the methods used to assess the participants dietary intake and different metabolic characteristics at baseline. Hannon et al. provided detailed instructions and oversight from a registered dietitian using 7-day food records, while the current study used self-reported FFQ. 16 Lepping et al. study had a participant population with a higher prevalence of metabolic syndrome, which was 59% compared to 27% of participants in the current study having metabolic syndrome.³⁰

This study has several strengths. The participants in the study are from an underserved population and African American men are usually underrepresented in studies. Additional strengths included clinical measurements, such as measured VO₂ max to support the self-reported exercise history. There were several study limitations which may have influenced the outcomes. First, the sample size was small and the subjects did not have elevated glucose and lipid levels, which may have limited our ability to observe a significant relationship between dietary fiber intake and metabolic risk factors. Also, self-reported FFQs were used and it is well known that subjects under-

report their dietary intake. Additionally, the subjects in this study were mostly educated with a middle class income which is not reflective of the food access challenges that lower socioeconomic populations may face.³⁷ Although, the participants were educated and not affected by poverty, they still had a below average dietary fiber intake and under consumed fruits and vegetables.

CHAPTER FIVE

Conclusion

Although, we did not find statistically significant associations between metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes and dietary fiber intake, this study still provided valuable information about the dietary, physiological, and lifestyle characteristics of a population vastly underrepresented in research. The current study results indicated that a higher dietary fiber intake resulted in lower LDL-C levels and those individuals that self-reported they exercised had higher median fiber intakes when compared to sedentary individuals. Future research should evaluate metabolic risk factor associations in larger populations of African Americans. Details regarding household size and zip code should be a part of collected lifestyle information and considered relative to income and food accessibility. Additionally, the association between lifestyle behaviors and dietary fiber intake and general dietary patterns amongst African Americans should be further explored.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Prevalence of Both Diagnosed and Undiagnosed Diabetes | Diabetes | CDC. Published January 19, 2022. Accessed June 15, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics-report/diagnosed-undiagnosed-diabetes.html
- 2. Rowley WR, Bezold C, Arikan Y, Byrne E, Krohe S. Diabetes 2030: Insights from Yesterday, Today, and Future Trends. *Popul Health Manag.* 2017;20(1):6-12. doi:10.1089/pop.2015.0181
- 3. Krishnan S, Rosenberg L, Singer M, et al. Glycemic Index, Glycemic Load, and Cereal Fiber Intake and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in US Black Women. *Arch Intern Med.* 2007;167(21):2304-2309. doi:10.1001/archinte.167.21.2304
- 4. Sims M, Diez Roux AV, Boykin S, et al. The Socioeconomic Gradient of Diabetes Prevalence, Awareness, Treatment, and Control Among African Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2011;21(12):892-898. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.05.006
- 5. Diabetes and African Americans The Office of Minority Health. Accessed September 8, 2022. https://www.minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=4&lvlid=18
- 6. CDC. From the CDC Leading Causes of Death in Males and Females, US. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Published March 3, 2022. Accessed June 16, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/healthequity/lcod/index.htm
- 7. Chen JP, Chen GC, Wang XP, Qin L, Bai Y. Dietary Fiber and Metabolic Syndrome: A Meta-Analysis and Review of Related Mechanisms. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(1):24. doi:10.3390/nu10010024
- 8. Alberti K g. m. m., Eckel RH, Grundy SM, et al. Harmonizing the Metabolic Syndrome. *Circulation*. 2009;120(16):1640-1645. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644
- 9. Impact of Dietary Fiber Consumption on Insulin Resistance and the Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes | The Journal of Nutrition | Oxford Academic. Accessed June 9, 2022. https://academic.oup.com/jn/article/148/1/7/4823705?login=true
- 10. Whole-grain and fiber intake and the incidence of type 2 diabetes | The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition | Oxford Academic. Accessed June 9, 2022. https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article/77/3/622/4689705?login=false

- 11. Hopping BN, Erber E, Grandinetti A, Verheus M, Kolonel LN, Maskarinec G. Dietary Fiber, Magnesium, and Glycemic Load Alter Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in a Multiethnic Cohort in Hawaii. *J Nutr.* 2010;140(1):68-74. doi:10.3945/jn.109.112441
- 12. Stevens J, Ahn K, Juhaeri, Houston D, Steffan L, Couper D. Dietary Fiber Intake and Glycemic Index and Incidence of Diabetes in African-American and White Adults: The ARIC Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(10):1715-1721. doi:10.2337/diacare.25.10.1715
- 13. Resnick HE, Valsania P, Halter JB, Lin X. Differential effects of BMI on diabetes risk among black and white Americans. *Diabetes Care*. 1998;21(11):1828-1835. doi:10.2337/diacare.21.11.1828
- 14. Anderson JW, O'Neal DS, Riddell-Mason S, Floore TL, Dillon DW, Oeltgen PR. Postprandial serum glucose, insulin, and lipoprotein responses to high- and low-fiber diets. *Metabolism*. 1995;44(7):848-854. doi:10.1016/0026-0495(95)90236-8
- 15. Sekgala MD, Mchiza ZJ, Parker W ah, Monyeki KD. Dietary Fiber Intake and Metabolic Syndrome Risk Factors among Young South African Adults. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(4):504. doi:10.3390/nu10040504
- 16. Hannon BA, Thompson SV, Edwards CG, et al. Dietary Fiber Is Independently Related to Blood Triglycerides Among Adults with Overweight and Obesity. *Curr Dev Nutr*. 2019;3(2):nzy094. doi:10.1093/cdn/nzy094
- 17. Nsiah K, Shang VO, Boateng KA, Mensah F. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. *Int J Appl Basic Med Res.* 2015;5(2):133-138. doi:10.4103/2229-516X.157170
- 18. Aljuraiban GS, Griep LMO, Chan Q, et al. Total, insoluble and soluble dietary fibre intake in relation to blood pressure: the INTERMAP Study. *Br J Nutr*. 2015;114(9):1480-1486. doi:10.1017/S0007114515003098
- 19. Storey M, Anderson P. Income and race/ethnicity influence dietary fiber intake and vegetable consumption. *Nutr Res.* 2014;34(10):844-850. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2014.08.016
- 20. Fiber. Accessed September 29, 2022. https://www.eatright.org/food/vitamins-and-supplements/nutrient-rich-foods/fiber
- 21. Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2020-2025. :164.
- 22. WWEIA Data Tables: USDA ARS. Accessed September 29, 2022. https://www.ars.usda.gov/northeast-area/beltsville-md-bhnrc/beltsville-human-nutrition-research-center/food-surveys-research-group/docs/wweia-data-tables/
- 23. McAdoo HP; M. The Dynamics of African American Fathers' Family Roles. *Mich Fam Rev.* 1997;03(1). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.3998/mfr.4919087.0003.102

- 24. Newton RL, Johnson WD, Larrivee S, et al. A Randomized Community-based Exercise Training Trial in African American Men: Aerobic Plus Resistance Training and Insulin Sensitivity in African American Men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2020;52(2):408-416. doi:10.1249/MSS.0000000000002149
- 25. Harlan LC, Block G. Use of adjustment factors with a brief food frequency questionnaire to obtain nutrient values. *Epidemiol Camb Mass*. 1990;1(3):224-231. doi:10.1097/00001648-199005000-00008
- 26. Turner ND, Lupton JR. Dietary Fiber. *Adv Nutr*. 2011;2(2):151-152. doi:10.3945/an.110.000281
- 27. Hiza HAB, Casavale KO, Guenther PM, Davis CA. Diet Quality of Americans Differs by Age, Sex, Race/Ethnicity, Income, and Education Level. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2013;113(2):297-306. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2012.08.011
- 28. Ma Y, Olendzki BC, Hafner AR, et al. Low-carbohydrate and high-fat intake among adult patients with poorly controlled type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition*. 2006;22(11):1129-1136. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2006.08.006
- 29. Bazzano LA, He J, Ogden LG, Loria CM, Whelton PK. Dietary Fiber Intake and Reduced Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in US Men and Women: The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. *Arch Intern Med.* 2003;163(16):1897-1904. doi:10.1001/archinte.163.16.1897
- 30. Lepping K, Adams-Campbell LL, Hicks J, Mills M, Dash C. Dietary fiber intake and metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal African American women with obesity. *PLOS ONE*. 2022;17(9):e0273911. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0273911
- 31. Dukas L, Willett WC, Giovannucci EL. Association between physical activity, fiber intake, and other lifestyle variables and constipation in a study of women. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2003;98(8):1790-1796. doi:10.1016/S0002-9270(03)00442-8
- 32. Brown L, Rosner B, Willett WW, Sacks FM. Cholesterol-lowering effects of dietary fiber: a meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1999;69(1):30-42. doi:10.1093/ajcn/69.1.30
- 33. Naumann E, van Rees AB, Önning G, Öste R, Wydra M, Mensink RP. β-Glucan incorporated into a fruit drink effectively lowers serum LDL-cholesterol concentrations. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2006;83(3):601-605. doi:10.1093/ajcn.83.3.601
- 34. Gerhard GT, Connor SL, Wander RC, Connor WE. Plasma lipid and lipoprotein responsiveness to dietary fat and cholesterol in premenopausal African American and white women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2000;72(1):56-63. doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.1.56
- 35. Queenan KM, Stewart ML, Smith KN, Thomas W, Fulcher RG, Slavin JL. Concentrated oat beta-glucan, a fermentable fiber, lowers serum cholesterol in hypercholesterolemic adults in a randomized controlled trial. *Nutr J.* 2007;6:6. doi:10.1186/1475-2891-6-6

- 36. Keenan JM, Goulson M, Shamliyan T, Knutson N, Kolberg L, Curry L. The effects of concentrated barley β -glucan on blood lipids in a population of hypercholesterolaemic men and women. *Br J Nutr.* 2007;97(6):1162-1168. doi:10.1017/S0007114507682968
- 37. Earnings Disparities by Race and Ethnicity | U.S. Department of Labor. Accessed October 13, 2022. https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ofccp/about/data/earnings/race-and-ethnicity